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Introduction

The author was asked by Walker, Fraser and Steele, Chartered Surveyors, as agents for BT Cellnet Ltd, to carry out an archaeological desk-based assessment and walk-over survey of the site of a proposed telecommunication mast, access track and power supply line at Bryson’s Cragg, or Meall Bad Mhuidhe, Loch Eriboll, Sutherland. The object of the assessment was to locate archaeological features in the vicinity of the site of the mast and the routes of the access track and powers supply line, which might be adversely affected by the project. Recommendations will be given for measures to be taken to protect the archaeological record. These measures would include the re-routing of the access track to protect an archaeological feature if necessary, or further archaeological recording of the feature or monitoring of work if re-routing proves impractical. Features which lie close to the route of the track and the power line will be given detailed descriptions, and recommendations will be made to mark these for identification by contractors to prevent accidental damage during work.

Method

The Highland Council’s Sites and Monuments Record was consulted for information on previously recorded archaeological sites in the area of the project. This record is held by the Archaeological Unit within the Department of Planning and Development at Highland Council in Inverness. The Highland Archive, also in Inverness, provided the 1st and 2nd edition Ordnance Survey maps. This was followed by a walk-over survey, carried out on 20.2.01, in wet and windy conditions but with no snow cover.

Archaeological Background

A large number of archaeological features were identified during a previous pre-afforestation survey of the area to the immediate south of Eriboll Farm, excluding the enclosed grazings. These features ranged chronologically from a possible Neolithic or Bronze Age cairn, through Late Prehistoric settlement and land use, evidence for pre-Clearance settlement and works associated with farm improvements in the 19th century. The focus of land use in both prehistoric and pre-Clearance periods is slightly to the west of the area of the present project, on the gentle slopes above the Allt Eriboll where both Bronze or Iron Age hut circles and pre-Clearance shielings are located on the same ground. Other prehistoric features; a burnt mound and possible standing stone also lie close to the Allt Eriboll, while in the field just south of the farm buildings is the site of a probable Iron Age souterrain and hut circle, excavated and removed by Alexander Clark before 1864. In a wider context, hut circles and other prehistoric features are scattered along both shores of Loch Eriboll, generally less than 100m above sea level, with the exception of the wheelhouse, unique to NW Scotland, above Portnancon, at 290m above sea level.

Historical Background

Historically, this area of the North West of Scotland was part of the lands of the MacKay Lords of Reay, who built fine houses at Tongue and Balnakiel. Eriboll was in the 18th century a substantial tacksman’s holding; parts of the present house date back to 1780. At the time of the Old Statistical Account, 1790, West Moine, as the east of Loch Eriboll was known, supported a population of 509, many occupied in the production of kelp. Lord Reay himself initiated the Clearances on his estate, but bankruptcy forced its sale to the Sutherland family, who completed the process of removal of small tenants and the establishment of two extensive sheep farms. Loch Eriboll became a point of departure for the Americas, and the remaining small tenantry from West Moine and further inland were settled on the rocky and infertile west shore of Loch Eriboll. Laid township was established for this purpose in 1832-5. 

Eriboll House, one of the two sheep farms, was built in its present form in 1836, together with the substantial farm steading. It can be assumed that the immediate area of the farm, being one of the most sheltered and fertile spots on the Loch Eriboll shore, would have been home to a sizeable settlement of small tenants, but land improvement has removed most traces of this original settlement, apart from peripheral field boundaries and shieling sites.

The Archaeological Survey

No archaeological features were located in the vicinity of the site of the telecommunications mast. Several sites were noted which lie very close to the access track and power line. These are listed below:

1. Water Channel / Mill Lade from NC 4380 5528 to NC 4319 5634, SMR no. NC45NW0036. This stone-lined channel runs for about 1.5km. The source of water is Am Feur Loch, where a broad turf and stone dam has been constructed across the outflow, with the remains of a sluice mechanism still visible (Photo no. 1.) The amount of dry land behind the dam demonstrates that the loch was capable of a much higher water level than at present. Below the dam, a channel has been cut through the peat for approximately 50m.(Photo no. 2) Below this the water has been allowed to find its own course until south of the road at NC 4361 5528 where it is diverted into a stone-lined channel to run NW to Eriboll Farm. Where the road has been recently improved, stones have rolled down the slope into the channel (Photo no. 3) It crosses the low lying ground, passing under the track at NC 4324 5392 (Photo no. 4) and appears to flow uphill to the farm buildings (Photo no.5)

This feature is not marked on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map but does appear on the 2nd edition. It can therefore be assumed to have been constructed between 1878 and 1903, by George Granville Clark, the then tenant at Eriboll. Presumably this huge effort of construction guaranteed a more reliable body of water to work the mill as required than attempting to utilize the Allt Eriboll.

2. Cairn at NC 4325 5587, SMR no. NC45NW0050 Described as a possible Neolithic or Bronze Age cairn, this not very visible feature is a spread pile of stones overgrown with grass and bracken. It is located immediately behind the fence in Photo no. 4.

3. Turf Dyke, or Bank at NC 434 558, SMR no. NC45NW0060 This turf boundary dyke follows the north bank of the small stream flowing into the Allt Eriboll. It is crossed by the road at NC 4328 5581, but to the east of this veers slightly north of the stream and the next eastern bend in the road is about 10m. from the dyke. The dyke does not continue beyond the rocky bluff to the east of this.

4. Turf Dyke at NC 4333 5576. A section of turf boundary dyke cuts across the bend in the road (Photo no. 6) The relationship between this dyke and the other sections of dyke, nos. 3 and 5. is now unclear because of subsequent road building.

5. Turf Dyke at NC 4328 5568. This dyke extends WSW from the bend in the road (Photo no. 7) It is probably part of the field system recorded in the pre-afforestation survey, SMR no. NC45NW0035, and described as ‘several banks forming two large enclosures on the NW slope of Creagan Soillear’ The rest of this feature was not investigated, as only the sections adjacent to the road are liable to be affected by the present project.

6. Turf dyke at NC 4329 5565 The faint trace of a turf dyke extending ENE from the road. This is probably also part of the field system recorded in the previous survey (Photo no. 8)
7. Borrow Pit and peat track at NC 4342 5552. A quarry presumably used for hardcore for the recent track improvements to the south of the deerfence. To the NE of the quarry a peat track runs for a short distance NE. This track is defined more by erosion than by any features of road construction.

8. Road from NC 4335 5593 to NC 4343 5551, SMR no. NC45NW0042 Until relatively recently this was the road from Durness, via the Heilam Ferry across Loch Eriboll, to Altnaharra. Along this section the metalled road still exists, further south the road has been improved with a hardcore surface.

Comments and Recommendations

The Access Track: construction of the new section of access track from the existing road to the top of Meall Bad Mhuidhe will avoid all of the features recorded in the survey. However, several of the features are immediately adjacent to the existing road, which may at some stage require repairs or other work. The archaeological features should be identified on the ground and care taken not to remove road building from their vicinity. The exception to this is the quarry, no. 7. which is considered to be a suitable location for the extraction of any required material. 

The water channel, no. 1, is vulnerable to damage from falls of rock and landslips where it runs immediately below the road. This channel is an unusual construction, and care should be taken to protect it from accidental damage. 

Power Line and Poles:  The precise route of the power line has not been given, so it is not possible to give more than general recommendations to protect the archaeological record. It should be possible to place the poles so that they are not directly on top of an archaeological feature, and preferably they should be located over 5m from one of the linear turf dyke features and the water channel, and 20m from the cairn. It is recommended that all these archaeological features be marked before final decisions are made as to the location of the poles.

Access to the site of each pole should be considered to ensure that no archaeological feature is damaged by being crossed by heavy plant. 
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